



Academy Research Priorities: An Agenda to Advance Nutrition and Dietetics Knowledge & Practice

2020 Edition

Academy Research Priorities: An Agenda to Advance Nutrition and Dietetics Knowledge & Practice

Position	Taskforce Member
Taskforce Chair	Jennifer A. Garner, PhD, RD
Bench Research Representative	Kelly Anne Tappenden, PhD, RD
Clinical Research Representative	Nancy J. Emenaker, PhD, MEd, RDN, LD, FAND
Public Health Representative	Jinan Banna, PhD, RD, CDN
Ad–Hoc Government/NIH Representative	Rachel Fisher, MS, MPH, RD
Academy Board of Directors Representative	Kevin Sauer, PhD, RDN, LD
Academy Staff Support	Gabriela V. Proaño, MS, RDN Alison Steiber, PhD, RDN Kathryn Kelley, MPH

The authors would like to thank the following people and groups for their contributions to this project:

April N. Hackert MS, RDN, LD, CEDRD Behavioral Health Nutrition dietetic practice group

Barbara Gordon MBA, RDN, LD, FAND Research dietetic practice group

Dustin Valdez Shepherd Research Lab, University of Hawai'i Cancer Center

Kathleen Pellechia MS, RDN Nutrition Informatics dietetic practice group

Kendra Kattelmann PhD, RDN, LN, FAND Nutrition and Dietetic Educators and Preceptors Marie Spiker, PhD MSPH, RDN Assistant Professor, University of Washington School of Public Health

Angela Vivanti, DHSc, Fellow of DAA Nutrition Care Process Research Outcomes Committee (NCPRO)

Ricardo Martinez Barron, MS PhD student in Nutrition Sciences, University of Hawai'i at Mānoa

Vanessa Araujo Almeida, MS PhD student in Nutrition Sciences, University of Hawai'i at Mānoa

Contents

Executive Summary
Summary of Research Priority Setting Process
Academy Research Priority Framework7
Nutrition–Related Discovery9
Clinical Research
Implementation Science
Public Health
Research Priority Applications 17
Research Priority Alignment
References

Executive Summary

The Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics, the world's largest organization of food and nutrition professionals, is committed to improving the nation's health and advancing the profession of nutrition and dietetics. Beginning in 2018, the Academy embarked on an interactive process to assess emergent research needs and identify research priorities that, if addressed, would have the greatest impact on knowledge advancement and empowerment of nutrition and dietetics practitioners, students, interns and retired members. The priorities fall within four themes: nutrition-related discovery, clinical nutrition research, implementation science and public health. Progress within and across each of these themes will have a significant impact on human health and provides a tremendous opportunity to advance the field of nutrition and dietetics.

The Research Priorities Taskforce – convened to establish new research priorities – was comprised of representatives from key Academy bodies (the Council on Research and the Board of Directors), potential collaborators (e.g. the National Institutes of Health) and diverse areas of dietetic research and practice, including bench, or basic, nutrition science; clinical nutrition; and public health.

The appointed Taskforce defined a 9-step process, based on existing literature, for setting new Academy research priorities. The process was designed to be timeless and thus a helpful tool for future Academy teams tasked with revisiting the research priorities in future decades. This process includes selecting the team, confirming the team's scope of work, preparing to engage stakeholders, engaging stakeholders, setting appraisal criteria, scoring (or analyzing) findings, conducting member checks, clarifying and organizing the priorities and disseminating the final priorities.

The Academy research priorities are intended as a resource for both internal and external stakeholders. The priorities have applications for both undergraduateand graduate-level education and mentoring; for use in clinical and community practice; for those in management



roles; and as a tool to motivate and facilitate research collaborations across multiple practice areas. The Taskforce acknowledges that there are additional research priorities that may fall outside the scope of the Academy or are currently being undertaken by other agencies. The priorities listed in this document highlight research priorities for nutrition and dietetics professionals and will include collaboration with other disciplines on numerous topics.

The following report provides highlights of the work done by the Taskforce as well as brief summaries and some examples for each of the final priorities. These examples are not meant to be exhaustive but rather to provide some additional information to the reader regarding the priorities. For more details regarding the Taskforce process and outputs, please refer to the Research Priorities Strategies Development Taskforce (RPSD TF) Process manuscript (accepted for publication in the Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics).

Summary of Research Priority Setting Process



The Taskforce defined a 9-step process for updating the Academy's research priorities. This process is based on published processes employed by other priority-developing groups and is an iterative process that is not time bound. It can be divided into 3 phases: phase 1 = preparation (steps 1 & 2); phase 2 = engagement and data collection (steps 3-7); and phase 3 = analysis and dissemination (steps 8 & 9). The purpose of outlining this process is to serve as a resource for future Academy teams tasked with setting new priorities. More details regarding the process can be found in the RPSD TF manuscript (accepted for publication in the Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics).

1. Select Team: (Phase 1)

Academy staff recruit Taskforce members to conduct priority revision process. Individuals are selected to represent a variety of nutrition and dietetic domains and stakeholder categories.

2. Confirm Scope: (Phase 1)

Taskforce discusses and clarifies their Academy-provided Statement of Task and specifies which stakeholders to engage with during their process.

3. Prepare to Engage: (Phase 2)

Taskforce decides data collection methods; prepares data collection tools; seeks support from relevant Academy units; and acquires Institutional Review Board approval.

4. Set Appraisal Criteria: (Phase 2)

Taskforce creates scoring or prioritization criteria (i.e., criteria by which to evaluate drafted priorities) and specifies analyses to be completed with collected data.

5. Engage Stakeholders: (Phase 2)

Taskforce collects relevant secondary data sources (e.g., recent Academy analyses or reports); sends surveys; and convenes interviews or focus groups to assess current member perspectives on potential research priorities.

6. Analyze Findings: (Phase 2)

Taskforce and Academy staff conduct qualitative and/or quantitative analyses of primary and secondary sources of information to capture priority-focused ideas. This step can be repeated as needed until sufficient stakeholder input is received.

7. Conduct Member Checks: (Phase 2)

Share preliminary findings and priority drafts (e.g. via FNCE[®] session, webinar or short report) to solicit feedback and ensure usability of outputs.

8. Clarify Priorities: (Phase 3)

Use feedback to refine priorities and any related content (e.g. priority descriptions, examples of potential projects, needed study designs) for maximal usability. This may include development of a framework for organizing the priorities. Priorities will continue to be refined and clarified as new feedback is received until group has finalized priorities.

9. Disseminate Findings: (Phase 3)

Distribute final priorities through multiple venues for maximal reach. Outputs may include a final report and manuscript providing a more detailed description of the priority-setting or priority revision process. Communication mechanisms may include a FNCE[®] session, Academy-hosted webinar, publication in the Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics, Academy-wide email, relevant Academy list servs and social media and the Academy website.

The hallmark of this process is its focus on the solicitation and thorough consideration of stakeholder perspectives – primarily those of Academy members –as the main driver of the new research priorities.

The Taskforce leveraged multiple sources of primary and secondary data to initiate the plan and to inform the final priorities, including:

- Notes from the 2016 Nutrition Impact Summit¹ interviews
- A one-question Member Engagement Zone survey* to generate initial idea
- A 19-question anonymous survey* distributed to all Academy members that gathered demographic information and a ranking of the draft research priorities based on importance and a set of established criteria.

Numerous calls were hosted with internal Academy stakeholders (e.g., the Board of Directors, Council on Research) and preliminary results were presented at FNCE[®] 2019 to complete the member checking process before the priorities were refined and finalized.

Academy Research Priority Framework



The final priorities were categorized into four themes relevant to nutrition and dietetics research: Nutrition-related Discovery, Clinical Nutrition Research, Implementation Science and Public Health. Influencing each of the themes is an overarching acknowledgment of the role that all priorities can play in informing nutrition and dietetics education, practice and policy.

Nutrition-related Discovery:

involves studying the fundamental mechanisms of biology and behavior underlying manifestations of both health and disease.²

Clinical Nutrition Research:

involves studies aimed at understanding better nutrition-related diseases, including the testing of interventions, behavioral and observational studies and outcomes research.²

Implementation Science:

includes studies with methods and strategies that facilitate the uptake of evidence-based practice and research into regular use by practitioners and policymakers.³

Public Health:

includes studies on the application of nutrition and public health principles to design programs, systems, policies and environments that aim to improve or maintain the optimal health of populations and targeted groups.⁴

The 2020 Academy Research Priorities

Nutrition-Related Discovery

- Increase the understanding of absorption, digestion, metabolism and excretion processes in states of health and disease.
- 2. Advance our understanding of prenatal and neonatal nutrition factors, including parental health behaviors, impacting fetal development and childhood health.
- 3. Explore the role of the microbiome and of microbiome-supporting diets on health and disease prevention across the lifespan.

Clinical Nutrition Research

- 4. Validate the clinical characteristics of malnutrition in all its forms across adult, child and neonatal populations.
- 5. Clarify nutrient needs associated with optimal outcomes in special populations.
- 6. Assess the efficacy of and applications for integrative and functional medicine approaches to health promotion and disease management.

Implementation Science

- Evaluate the costs and impact of improving and expanding delivery of medical nutrition therapy (MNT) and other nutrition and dietetics services across various medical conditions and identify opportunities that exist for improved MNT delivery.
- 8. Explore the role of the nutrition and dietetics practitioners in the utility and application of emerging technologies, information management and knowledge management processes to inform and advance nutrition and dietetics programming and practice.
- Evaluate best practices for translating, disseminating and scaling nutrition and dietetics interventions across community and clinical settings.
- 10. Advance our understanding of effective strategies for maintaining nutrition-related behavior changes in diverse populations.

Public Health

- Assess the multi-directional relationship between food systems – including various food production, processing and distribution practices – and nutrition and health outcomes.
- 12. Evaluate strategies to address current diet and health disparities and related chronic disease disparities among low-income and underrepresented persons.
- Examine the impact of programs and policies that target social determinants of health on nutrition and nutrition-related health outcomes.

Nutrition–Related Discovery

1. Increase the understanding of absorption, digestion, metabolism and excretion processes in states of health and disease.

Nutrient absorption, digestion, metabolism and excretion are the most fundamental of human nutrition processes and each plays a central role in facilitating health. Development and refinement of precision nutrition capabilities relies on greater understanding of interindividual heterogeneity in these processes⁵ with the goal of identifying subgroups for targeted implementation of nutrition therapies. For example, limited research demonstrates differences in the prevalence of insulin resistance and dyslipidemia across ethnic groups.⁶ Greater understanding and identification of such subgroups will require nutrition genomics research, which includes nutrigenetics, nutrigenomics and nutrition epigenomics and is defined as "...how nutrients and genes interact and are expressed to reveal phenotypic outcomes, including disease risk."^{7,8} Confounding such efforts is the fact that existing datasets do not typically include sufficient data as a comprehensive dataset would include environmental, diet, metabolic phenotype, microbiome, genetic and epigenetic data.⁵

Given the applied nature of nutrition and dietetics practice, additional research is also needed to characterize differential impacts of nutrition therapies and related medications on digestion and absorption processes across population subgroups. For example, more research is needed to examine the effect of radiation therapy on metabolism and on pharmacokinetics. Such studies offer ripe opportunity for credentialed nutrition and dietetics practitioners to work side-by-side and collaborate with other health care professionals and disciplines to advance science and, ultimately, our clinical and community practice.⁵

2. Advance our understanding of prenatal and neonatal nutrition factors, including parental health behaviors, impacting fetal development and childhood health.

Nutrition during early stages of life – spanning from conception to the first 1,000 days – plays a significant role in a child's short-term survival, neurodevelopment and long-term health.^{9.10} During this time period, the brain grows more quickly than at any other stage of life and the provision of optimal nutrition is one of the key factors influencing early brain development.¹¹ In addition, early environmental exposures such as poor nutrition – especially during the periconceptional period – can result in epigenetic modifications and changes in gene expression that may adversely influence an offspring's long-term health risk, a concept known as Developmental Origins of Health and Disease.¹² Research on this important developmental phase may encompass a wide variety of topics, including, but not limited to, maternal diet, stress, weight status and environmental exposures and the implementation of neonatal feeding practices. Given that such exposures are not experienced in isolation from one another, more research is needed on the joint impact of these factors on health outcomes in infancy and beyond and on the underlying mechanisms driving these relationships.¹³ Developmental outcomes of interest include growth, immunity, organ development and function, behavior and temperament.¹³⁻¹⁶ Studies should endeavor to use consistent reporting practices, especially regarding nutritional intake and growth outcome data.¹⁷ To advance nutrition and dietetics practice and the impact of prenatal- and neonatalfocused nutrition interventions, more research is also needed on barriers¹⁸ to implementing neonatal nutrition guidelines by registered dietitian nutritionists and other health professionals.

Additional avenues of worthy investigation include identifying effective strategies for supporting breastfeeding best practices (e.g., as done by Brockway et al.¹⁹).In addition, improving our understanding of age-appropriate and adequate complementary feeding practices^{20,21} is also of great importance along with supplementation with iron and folic acid and/or multiple micronutrients during pregnancy, provision of multiple micronutrients (in addition to iron) during infancy, supplementation with essential fatty acids during pregnancy and infancy and fortified food supplements provided during pregnancy and infancy.¹¹ Research to support policies and practices that facilitate healthy dietary patterns among parents, infants and young children will have a substantial impact on long-term health outcomes at the population level.

3. Explore the role of the microbiome and of microbiome-supporting diets on health and disease prevention across the lifespan.

Over the past decade, there has been a tremendous growth in research enabling us to better understand the microbiome – the genetic material of all the microbes (bacteria, fungi, protozoa and viruses) that live on and within the human body.^{22,23} The microbiome plays a critical role in immune function, preventing colonization of harmful bacteria and viruses, and in food metabolism. In fact, the microbiome, especially the gut microbiome, is thought to affect almost all aspects of human health. Each person has a unique microbiome, to which there are many contributing factors such as mode of infant delivery, environmental exposures, antibiotic use, and, very importantly, diet. However, the understanding of the interrelationships between food choices and the microbiome and their collective effect on the host has just begun. Many questions remain pertaining to how food choices can be used to modulate the microbiome, how this affects health and what other factors must be considered in the interpretation of study results.^{24,25}

Clinical Research

4. Validate the clinical characteristics of malnutrition in all its forms across adult, child and neonatal populations.

The Academy and the American Society for Parenteral and Enteral Nutrition developed consensus statements on malnutrition clinical characteristics (MCC) to provide consistent definitions and diagnostic criteria for the identification and documentation of malnutrition (undernutrition) in pediatric and adult patients.^{26,27} In addition, the Academy is collaborating on ongoing projects related to a Malnutrition Quality Initiative Learning Collaborative.²⁸ Given that other malnutrition diagnosis criteria exist, such as those defined by the European Society of Clinical Nutrition and Metabolism and the Global Leadership Initiative on Malnutrition , it is vital for the Academy/ASPEN MCC to be validated. A pilot trial²⁹ was able to inform a larger validation study that is currently ongoing for both the adult and pediatric population. This study will not only collect health and nutrition outcomes such as severity of illness and changes in nutrition diagnosis of malnutrition based on MCC findings, but also quantify the level of nutrition care needed to improve outcomes to better inform staffing levels. Results from this MCC trial will inform further research including the use of MCC in neonatal populations. Clinical characteristics and validation of definitive criteria for other forms of malnutrition, such as that which is micronutrient-related or overweight and obesity-related, remains under-examined and should be the focus of more research in coming years.

5. Clarify nutrient needs associated with optimal outcomes in special populations.

Diet quality is a modifiable factor influencing health and disease risk throughout the lifecycle. Additional research is needed to investigate adequate macro- and micronutrient intake for the promotion of optimal health among populations with potentially unique nutrition needs. Such populations include those who are post-surgical; critically ill adults and children; individuals with intellectual and developmental disabilities; and those who are aging and experiencing neurological changes, among others.

A key example of one such population is older adults. Nutrition plays an important role in aging-related physical and cognitive changes. The European Society for Clinical Nutrition and Metabolism (ESPEN) recommends that older adults consume at least 1.0 to 1.2 g protein/kg body weight/day to maintain muscle mass and strength.³⁰ However, older adults face a number of health challenges which have yet to be addressed through more specific recommendations for nutrient intake, such as Alzheimer's disease and related dementias. As dietary protein and its constituent amino acids may play an important role in longterm cognition, additional research is needed to develop specific recommendations regarding protein intake or intake of specific amino acids for maintaining optimal cognitive functioning.³¹ Current evidence does not allow for such conclusions to be drawn. Large randomized clinical trials are needed to establish the optimal forms, dose and timing of dietary protein intake (and other nutrients) to elucidate requirements for older adults and in special populations, such as post-bariatric and other surgical patients and the critically ill.³² Recent evidence also links nutrition to psychological outcomes and nutrition implicated in behavior, mood and in the pathology and treatment of mental illness. Credentialed nutrition and dietetics practitioners have a role in using nutrition strategies to achieve quality of life for individuals with intellectual and developmental disabilities³³ and may be effective in preventing poor cognitive health, such as severe acute malnutrition (very low weight-for-height), chronic undernutrition (as evidenced by intrauterine growth retardation and linear growth retardation or stunting), iron deficiency anemia and iodine deficiency. Yet, evidential proof of the effectiveness of other potential strategies is needed.¹¹

6. Assess the efficacy of and applications for integrative and functional medicine approaches to health promotion and disease management.

As integrative and functional nutrition practices rise in popularity, it is important for credentialed nutrition and dietetics practitioners to be leaders in the expansion of the evidence base and the evidence-based application of these practices. More than 30 percent of U.S. adults use complementary medicine, with natural products (dietary supplements including herbs, fish oil, etc.) being the most common.³⁴ The National Institutes of Health's National Center for Complementary and Integrative Health (NCCIH) leads research on integrative and functional treatment approaches and has identified the safety, impacts and underlying mechanisms of mind and body practices and natural products as key areas of study.³⁵ The Academy's Registered Dietitian Nutritionists in Integrative and Functional Medicine dietetic practice group, in collaboration with the Academy's Quality Management Committee, have outlined Standards of Practice and Standards of Professional Performance for registered dietitian nutritionists. These standards emphasize the use of evidence-based practices and the best available evidence. It is vital that the Academy and credentialed nutrition and dietetics practitioners in this area collaborate with federal agencies to conduct basic, mechanistic, translational and intervention studies to inform high-quality efficacy and effectiveness trials that will elucidate the role of such approaches in promoting health and managing disease.³⁶

Implementation Science

7. Evaluate the costs and impact of improving and expanding delivery of medical nutrition therapy (MNT) and other nutrition and dietetics services across various medical conditions and identify opportunities that exist for improved MNT delivery.

The Academy defines MNT as "an evidence-based application of the Nutrition Care Process. The provision of MNT (to a patient/client) ...typically results in the prevention, delay or management of diseases and/ or conditions" that is provided by a nutrition and dietetics practitioner.³⁷ Multiple publications have demonstrated the clinical effectiveness and cost benefits of MNT for patients with conditions such as dyslipidemia, cardiometabolic risk factors, diabetes and chronic kidney disease.³⁸⁻⁴¹ MNT is, therefore, a component of clinical practice recommendations and guidelines of the American Diabetes Association, the American Heart Association, the American College of Cardiology, the Obesity Society and numerous Academy evidence-based nutrition practice guidelines. However, broad access to MNT by a registered dietitian nutritionist is currently limited by existing Medicare coverage polices. As health care costs continue to rise, it will be important to evaluate and demonstrate the effectiveness and cost savings of MNT across a wide range of conditions. It is also important to understand barriers and facilitators to access to MNT and how this differs by population, setting, location, etc. The Academy has been working on a Nutrition Series project that will examine the barriers and facilitators of access to high quality nutrition care and the impact of RDNs on three conditions: diabetes, chronic kidney disease and hypertension.

Further research is also needed to support the successful integration of evidence-based practices into routine care and to enhance delivery of MNT across practice settings. Delivery of MNT to critically ill patients, for example, remains a significant challenge given patient heterogeneity and their higher complication risk. Studies that examine the assessment, timing, dose and composition of MNT (including cost-effectiveness and staffing) are of urgent need in this patient population.⁴²

8. Explore the role of the nutrition and dietetics practitioners in the utility and application of emerging technologies, information management and knowledge management processes to inform and advance nutrition and dietetics programming and practice.

Due to the rapid development and incorporation of emerging technologies into health care practice, it is vital that nutrition and dietetics practitioners remain abreast of these technologies and explore how to use them effectively in nutrition care. This was emphasized in the Academy's Council on Future Practice Visioning Report in 2017, which encouraged dietetic practitioners to enhance their digital literacy and embrace technological advances in their work.⁴³ Relevant technological advancements include nutrition informatics, artificial intelligence, telehealth and mobile and wearable technologies.⁴⁴⁻⁴⁶ It will be prudent for credentialed nutrition and dietetics practitioners and the members of the new Nutrition Informatics dietetic practice group to collaborate with other vested parties, such as data scientists and engineers, to understand best practices for using such technology in clinical and community-based practice and for the benefit of nutrition science research and position credentialed nutrition and dietetics practitioners as leaders in informatics by understanding the involvement of RDNs in these roles, tracking educational opportunities and encouraging registered dietitian nutritionists to publish informatics-related work.

9. Evaluate best practices for translating, disseminating and scaling nutrition and dietetics interventions across community and clinical settings.

The translation of research findings into practice is an imperative, yet complex process that bears weight for our practice-focused profession. For interventions to be used effectively in practice, those interventions must undergo efficacy and effectiveness testing (i.e., does it work under optimal conditions and in the real-world?) and be subject to questions of whether it will be accepted by the target audience (i.e., dissemination research) and how it can be adopted by applicable providers and larger health care systems (i.e., implementation research).⁴⁷ Numerous frameworks exist to support such efforts, regardless of the intervention of focus; researchers aiming to support the translation of a dietetics intervention should consider how to leverage such frameworks.^{47,48} The ultimate goal of this work is to implement and disseminate evidence-based policies, programs and interventions at the appropriate scale and quality to achieve broad impact. Credentialed nutrition and dietetics practitioners have an opportunity to identify methods and approaches best suited to address implementation challenges, evaluate effective strategies in varied populations and to enhance the utilization of existing knowledge, tools and frameworks that have been employed in other domains to promote the success of nutrition interventions across community and clinical settings.

10. Advance our understanding of effective strategies for maintaining nutrition-related behavior changes in diverse populations.

Poor nutrition is a leading contributor to the development of chronic disease, such as type 2 diabetes, cardiovascular disease and some cancers.⁴⁹ Thus, balanced nutrition, as defined by the Dietary Guidelines for Americans, is important for chronic disease prevention.⁵⁰ RDNs can implement nutrition-related behavior change strategies to not only prevent, but also to manage, chronic disease development and progression. MNT implemented and monitored by an RDN, includes behavior change strategies aimed at supporting the consumption of nutrient-dense foods and providing interventions to address medical conditions and diet-related disease. As the impact of nutrition on mental health is further revealed, a greater awareness of body size prejudice and use of behavioral modification strategies that support mental and physical well-being are also needed.⁵¹ Evidence-based recommendations have been developed for the initiation of nutrition-related behavior change⁵² and strategies leading to the improvement of health outcomes can be best implemented through the lens of body positivity.⁵³ Researchers should examine strategies for reducing the risk of chronic disease development and enhancing dietary, mental and physical outcomes from MNT through RDN-facilitated behavior change and behavior change and behavior change

Maintenance of behavior change, as is found in all interventions focused on health behavior change, is challenging.⁵⁴ Theories on the maintenance of behavior change (e.g. self-determination theory, self-regulation theory) provide a framework to conceptualize the differential nature and role of motives, self-regulation, resources (psychological and physical), habits and environmental and social influences on behavioral maintenance.⁵⁴ The relevance and application of these theoretical frameworks most likely differ by individual characteristics such as age, gender, socioeconomic status, education level, culture, health status, food security status and more. More research is needed to understand strategies for using these frameworks as part of nutrition-related behavioral maintenance and how the use may vary across population subgroups.

Public Health

11. Assess the multi-directional relationship between food systems – including various food production, processing and distribution practices – and nutrition and health outcomes.

The United Nations projects that the world population will reach 9.8 billion by 2050 and exceed 11 billion by 2100.55 Domestically, our U.S. population is expected to grow to between 376 and 447 million individuals by 2060.⁵⁶ As the domestic and global population grows, so will demand for food. Identifying strategies to ensure a nutritious, safe, equitable and ecologically sustainable food supply is, and will continue to be, a critical challenge. Recent estimates suggest that U.S. agricultural production can accommodate domestic calorie food needs in the coming decade, but that substantial agricultural shifts are needed to support healthier diets (e.g., more acreage for fruit and vegetable production). ⁵⁷ The food system is a vast, complex, and increasingly global network. Collaborative, multi-disciplinary research methods are needed to better understand the mechanics of the system. More research is needed that seeks to evaluate innovative approaches to improving the system and understanding its impacts on food security, nutrition and health. Understanding the impact of current and potential food system practices on food availability, affordability, access and diet quality is of particular importance as governments, businesses and nongovernment organizations consider whether the food system can be a lever for public health benefit and how to operate in the context of a burgeoning population.^{58,59}

12. Evaluate strategies to address current diet and health disparities and related chronic disease disparities among low-income and underrepresented persons.

Despite the existence of various local and federally-funded programs to make healthy foods accessible to lower-income and underserved households, disparities in diet quality have worsened among U.S. adults.⁶⁰ Adolescents experience such disparities as well; adolescents with parents of higher socioeconomic status had healthier dietary patterns, including greater consumption of fruits and vegetables and lower consumption of sugar-sweetened beverages.⁶¹ Numerous, modifiable factors have been blamed for these disparities, including poor availability of healthy foods, aggressive marketing of unhealthy foods, insufficient education regarding healthy food choices, and issues of healthy food affordability, yet efforts to address these factors are complicated by conflicting ideals of health promotion and individual choice.⁶² Given these diet disparities in the U.S., such as that seen for diabetes rates,⁶³ is not surprising. More research is needed to inform the design and implementation of strategies to address diet and chronic disease disparities in underrepresented groups via comprehensive policy, systems and environmental approaches.⁶⁴⁻⁶⁶

13. Examine the impact of programs and policies that target social determinants of health on nutrition and nutrition-related health outcomes.

Health is impacted by numerous, interrelated factors. The root causes of these have been referred to as social determinants of health, which are defined as "conditions in the environments in which people are born, live, learn, work, play, worship and age that affect a wide range of health, functioning and quality-of-life outcomes and risks."⁶⁷ These conditions have been organized into five categories: neighborhood and built environment, health and health care, social and community context, education and economic stability. Addressing inequities across these domains has been identified as a "vital direction" for the health care field68 and such initiatives hold promise for improving health outcomes and health care costs.⁶⁹ Yet, relatively few resources have been directed to this end. A variety of context-specific factors, including current discourse, existing data and institutional norms, influence whether social determinants are addressed in government policy agendas.⁷⁰ At the organizational level, even relatively well-supported approaches, such as screening patients for social determinants of health in health care settings, may be ineffective or inadvertently harmful without greater attention to proper implementation.⁷¹ Research is needed to inform, explore and evaluate actionable approaches to addressing social determinants of health in practice in order to realize potential benefits, including improved diet quality and diet-related health outcomes.

Research Priority Applications

The 2020 Academy Research Priorities have a wide variety of applications relevant to both internal (i.e. Academy-affiliated) and external stakeholders.

Applications in Undergraduate and Graduate Education and Mentoring

The research priorities and the methods used to generate them have great applications in the classroom. In particular, as the profession moves towards a required graduate degree in 2024, understanding the research process used by the Academy and systematic member involvement in research priority setting provides a great teaching tool about research. Students can also gain from understanding how the priorities might impact their preferred areas of future practice. In addition, the priorities can assist graduate students with developing research questions or justification of their research plans. The same can be said for current research faculty.

Applications in Clinical and Community Practice

The research priorities can guide quality improvement projects and research within clinical and community settings. As implementers of evidence and research, clinical and community-based practitioners can play a more active role in assessing the adequacy of the evidence base for their scope of work and in informing future iterations of the research priorities, specifically related to emerging nutrition topics and persisting public health concerns.

Applications in Management

Some priorities pertain to management, for example priorities calling for the evaluation of costs and impacts associated with improving delivery of food and nutrition-related services. Collaborations with technology experts can offer evidence-based strategies for enhancing the implementation and monitoring of nutrition and public health services. These are great examples of the need for dietetics practice research that blends management of food and nutrition systems, clinical, leadership, knowledge, skills and experience.

Applications in Research & Collaboration

The priorities provide an opportunity for Academy-affiliated scientists to reflect on current research efforts and consider how work can facilitate the identified needs. The Taskforce was asked to recommend research designs in addition to research topics. It became clear, though, that the diversity of research needs will merit a diversity of research approaches. Researchers should work with teams to employ the most rigorous study design possible for the research question and setting.

Beyond individual use of these priorities by Academy members and Academy organizational units, it is important that our numerous external stakeholders are aware that the nutrition and dietetics profession establishes research priorities and pursues the systematic advancement of nutrition knowledge. The priorities can help to facilitate important discussions regarding collaboration opportunities with like-minded organizations and other health care professionals.

Research Priority Alignment

The Academy's Strategic Plan⁷²

The Taskforce has always placed focus on aligning their efforts with the Academy's Strategic Plan, which was used throughout the priority setting process (for example, to facilitate coding and categorization of membercontributed ideas) and the final priorities align with it in many ways. The Strategic Plan's focus areas include prevention and wellbeing, health care and health systems and food and nutrition safety and security. Please find below examples of how the Academy's revised research priorities align with the Strategic Plan:

<u>Prevention & Well-being</u>: Ex. Evaluate strategies to address current diet and health disparities and related chronic disease disparities among low-income and underrepresented persons.

<u>Health Care and Health Systems</u>: Ex. Validate the clinical characteristics of malnutrition "in all its forms" across adult, child and neonatal populations.

<u>Food and Nutrition Safety & Security:</u> Ex. Assess the impact of differing production, processing and food system practices on food access, diet quality and other nutrition outcomes.

The Nutrition Care Process^{73,74}

The Nutrition Care Process and its accompanied terminology is designed to improve the consistency and quality of nutrition care and the predictability of nutrition care outcomes. The NCP has been utilized by nutrition and dietetics professionals for almost twenty years and is a widely adopted framework forming the basis of the profession. Given the practice implications of the revised research priorities, it may be helpful to demonstrate how the priorities align with the NCP model. Please find below examples of how the Academy's revised research priorities align with the NCP:

<u>Assessment:</u> Ex. Clarify nutrient needs associated with optimal outcomes in special populations (e.g. postsurgical, critically ill adults, critically ill children, children with developmental disabilities, aging-related neurological changes, etc.).

<u>Diagnosis</u>: Validate the clinical characteristics of malnutrition "in all its forms" across adult, child and neonatal populations.

<u>Intervention</u>: Ex. Advance our understanding of effective strategies for maintaining positive nutrition-related behavior changes in diverse populations.

<u>Monitoring and Evaluation</u>: Ex. Evaluate the costs and impact of improving delivery of MNT and other nutrition and dietetic services across various medical conditions and identify opportunities that exist for improved MNT delivery.

<u>Outcomes management</u>: Ex. Leverage informatics systems and real-life data such as data collected with the Academy's ANDHII platform to conduct big data analytics and demonstrate efficacy of nutrition care in health outcomes.^{75,76}

References

- Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics Foundation. The Nutrition Impact Summit. <u>https://</u> <u>eatrightfoundation.org/why-it-matters/second-century/nutrition-impact-summit/</u>. Published 2016. Accessed December 19, 2018.
- National Institutes of Health- National Center for Advancing Translational Sciences. Translational Science Spectrum. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/</u>. Published 2015. Updated 2015-03-12. Accessed April 30, 2020.
- 3. University of Washington- The UW Implementation Science Resource Hub. What is Implementation Science? | Implementation Science at UW. <u>https://impsciuw.org/implementation-science/learn/</u> <u>implementation-science-overview/</u>. Published 2020. Accessed May 1, 2020.
- 4. Bruening M, Udarbe AZ, Yakes Jimenez E, Stell Crowley P, Fredericks DC, Edwards Hall LA. Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics: Standards of Practice and Standards of Professional Performance for Registered Dietitian Nutritionists (Competent, Proficient, and Expert) in Public Health and Community Nutrition. Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics. 2015;115(10):1699-1709.e1639.
- 5. Zeisel SH. Precision (Personalized) Nutrition: Understanding Metabolic Heterogeneity. Annual Review of Food Science and Technology. 2020;11(1):71-92.
- 6. Deboer MD. Ethnicity, obesity and the metabolic syndrome: implications on assessing risk and targeting intervention. Expert Review of Endocrinology & Metabolism. 2011;6(2):279-289.
- 7. Camp KM, Trujillo E. Position of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics: Nutritional Genomics. Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics. 2014;114(2):299-312.
- 8. Rozga M, Handu D. Nutritional Genomics in Precision Nutrition: An Evidence Analysis Center Scoping Review. Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics. 2019;119(3):507-515.e507.
- 9. Hoffman D, Arts M, Bégin F. The "First 1,000 Days+" as Key Contributor to the Double Burden of Malnutrition. Annals of Nutrition and Metabolism. 2019;75(2):99-102.
- 10. Mameli C, Mazzantini S, Zuccotti G. Nutrition in the First 1000 Days: The Origin of Childhood Obesity. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health. 2016;13(9):838.
- 11. Prado EL, Dewey KG. Nutrition and brain development in early life. Nutrition Reviews. 2014;72(4): 267-284.
- 12. Fleming TP, Eckert JJ, Denisenko O. The Role of Maternal Nutrition During the Periconceptional Period and Its Effect on Offspring Phenotype. In: Fazeli A, Holt WV, eds. Periconception in Physiology and Medicine. Cham: Springer International Publishing; 2017:87-105.
- Barrett ES, Sefair AV, O'Connor TG. Prenatal Maternal Stress in Context: Maternal Stress Physiology, Immunology, Neuroendocrinology, Nutrition and Infant Development. In: Rajendram R, Preedy VR, Patel VB, eds. Diet, Nutrition, and Fetal Programming. Cham: Springer International Publishing; 2017:3-13.
- 14. Ahmad SR. Maternal Nutrition and Fetal Programming of the Immune System: Epidemiological and Experimental Evidences. Asian Journal of Medicine and Health. 2019:1-8.

- 15. Lee Y, Collins C, Gordon A, Rae K, Pringle K. The Relationship between Maternal Nutrition during Pregnancy and Offspring Kidney Structure and Function in Humans: A Systematic Review. Nutrients. 2018;10(2):241.
- 16. Macpherson AJ, de Agüero MG, Ganal-Vonarburg SC. How nutrition and the maternal microbiota shape the neonatal immune system. Nature Reviews Immunology. 2017;17(8):508-517.
- 17. Cormack BE, Embleton ND, Van Goudoever JB, Hay WW, Bloomfield FH. Comparing apples with apples: it is time for standardized reporting of neonatal nutrition and growth studies. Pediatric Research. 2016;79(6): 810-820.
- 18. Page D, Gilroy M, Hurrion E, Clark L, Wilkinson S. Optimising early neonatal nutrition using translational research methodology. Nutr Diet. 2017;74(5):460-470.
- Brockway M, Benzies K, Hayden KA. Interventions to Improve Breastfeeding Self-Efficacy and Resultant Breastfeeding Rates: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Journal of Human Lactation. 2017;33(3):486-499.
- 20. English LK, Obbagy JE, Wong YP, et al. Complementary feeding and developmental milestones: a systematic review. The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition. 2019;109(Supplement_1):879S-889S.
- 21. Walker SP, Wachs TD, Grantham-Mcgregor S, et al. Inequality in early childhood: risk and protective factors for early child development. The Lancet. 2011;378(9799):1325-1338.
- 22. Valdes AM, Walter J, Segal E, Spector TD. Role of the gut microbiota in nutrition and health. BMJ. 2018:k2179.
- 23. Zmora N, Suez J, Elinav E. You are what you eat: diet, health and the gut microbiota. Nature Reviews Gastroenterology & Hepatology. 2019;16(1):35-56.
- 24. Hadrich D. Microbiome Research Is Becoming the Key to Better Understanding Health and Nutrition. Frontiers in Genetics. 2018;9(212).
- 25. Team NHMPA. A review of 10 years of human microbiome research activities at the US National Institutes of Health, Fiscal Years 2007-2016. Microbiome. 2019;7(1).
- 26. Becker P, Carney LN, Corkins MR, et al. Consensus Statement of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics/ American Society for Parenteral and Enteral Nutrition. Nutrition in Clinical Practice. 2015;30(1):147-161.
- 27. White JV, Guenter P, Jensen G, Malone A, Schofield M. Consensus Statement: Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics and American Society for Parenteral and Enteral Nutrition. Journal of Parenteral and Enteral Nutrition. 2012;36(3):275-283.
- McCauley SM, Barrocas A, Malone A. Hospital Nutrition Care Betters Patient Clinical Outcomes and Reduces Costs: The Malnutrition Quality Improvement Initiative Story. Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics. 2019;119(9):S11-S14.
- 29. Hand RK, Murphy WJ, Field LB, et al. Validation of the Academy/A.S.P.E.N. Malnutrition Clinical Characteristics. Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics. 2016;116(5):856-864.
- 30. Deutz NEP, Bauer JM, Barazzoni R, et al. Protein intake and exercise for optimal muscle function with aging: Recommendations from the ESPEN Expert Group. Clinical Nutrition. 2014;33(6):929-936.
- 31. Glenn JM, Madero EN, Bott NT. Dietary Protein and Amino Acid Intake: Links to the Maintenance of Cognitive Health. Nutrients. 2019;11(6):1315.

- 32. Nowson C, O'Connell S. Protein Requirements and Recommendations for Older People: A Review. Nutrients. 2015;7(8):6874-6899.
- 33. Cushing P, Spear D, Novak P, et al. Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics: Standards of Practice and Standards of Professional Performance for Registered Dietitians (Competent, Proficient, and Expert) in Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities. 2012;112(9):1454-1464.e1435.
- 34. National Institutes of Health- National Center for Complementary and Integrative Health. Complementary, Alternative, or Integrative Health: What's In a Name? <u>https://www.nccih.nih.gov/health/complementary-alternative-or-integrative-health-whats-in-a-name</u>. Published 2018. Accessed January 2, 2020.
- 35. National Institutes of Health- National Center for Complementary and Integrative Health. NCCIH's Research Strategy. <u>https://www.nccih.nih.gov/about/nccihs-research-strategy</u>. Published 2020. Accessed January 2, 2020.
- National Institutes of Health- National Center for Complementary and Integrative Health. The Range of Research Questions. <u>https://www.nccih.nih.gov/about/the-range-of-research-questions</u>. Published 2020. Accessed January 2, 2020.
- Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics. Definition of Terms List. <u>https://www.eatrightpro.org/-/media/eatrightpro-files/practice/scope-standards-of-practice/20190910-academy-definition-of-terms-list.pdf</u>. Published 2019. Accessed April 3, 2020.
- 38. Briggs Early K, Stanley K. Position of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics: The Role of Medical Nutrition Therapy and Registered Dietitian Nutritionists in the Prevention and Treatment of Prediabetes and Type 2 Diabetes. Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics. 2018;118(2):343-353.
- 39. Sikand G, Cole RE, Handu D, et al. Clinical and cost benefits of medical nutrition therapy by registered dietitian nutritionists for management of dyslipidemia: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Journal of Clinical Lipidology. 2018;12(5):1113-1122.
- 40. Pastors JG, Warshaw H, Daly A, Franz M, Kulkarni K. The Evidence for the Effectiveness of Medical Nutrition Therapy in Diabetes Management. Diabetes Care. 2002;25(3):608-613.
- 41. Kramer H, Jimenez EY, Brommage D, et al. Medical Nutrition Therapy for Patients with Non–Dialysis-Dependent Chronic Kidney Disease: Barriers and Solutions. Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics. 2018;118(10):1958-1965.
- 42. Kopp Lugli A, De Watteville A, Hollinger A, Goetz N, Heidegger C. Medical Nutrition Therapy in Critically III Patients Treated on Intensive and Intermediate Care Units: A Literature Review. Journal of Clinical Medicine. 2019;8(9):1395.
- 43. Kicklighter JR, Dorner B, Hunter AM, et al. Visioning Report 2017: A Preferred Path Forward for the Nutrition and Dietetics Profession. Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics. 2017;117(1):110-127.
- 44. Rusnak S, Charney P. Position of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics: Nutrition Informatics. Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics. 2019;119(8):1375-1382.
- 45. Hickson M, Child J, Collinson A. Future Dietitian 2025: informing the development of a workforce strategy for dietetics. Journal of Human Nutrition and Dietetics. 2018;31(1):23-32.
- 46. Abrahams M, Lynn, Bryant E, Stewart-Knox B. Personalised Nutrition Technologies and Innovations: A Cross-National Survey of Registered Dietitians. Public Health Genomics. 2019:1-13.

- 47. Zoellner J, Van Horn L, Gleason PM, Boushey CJ. What Is Translational Research? Concepts and Applications in Nutrition and Dietetics. Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics. 2015;115(7):1057-1071.
- 48. Tumilowicz A, Ruel MT, Pelto G, et al. Implementation Science in Nutrition: Concepts and Frameworks for an Emerging Field of Science and Practice. Current Developments in Nutrition. 2019;3(3).
- 49. Center for Disease Control and Prevention- NCCDPHP. Poor Nutrition | CDC. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/</u> <u>chronicdisease/resources/publications/factsheets/nutrition.htm</u>. Published 2020. Updated 2020-04-14. Accessed.
- 50. Dietary Guidelines for Americans. 2015-2020 Dietary Guidelines | Dietary Guidelines for Americans. https:// www.dietaryguidelines.gov/current-dietary-guidelines/2015-2020-dietary-guidelines. Published 2020. Accessed April 18, 2020.
- 51. Sarris J, Logan AC, Akbaraly TN, et al. Nutritional medicine as mainstream in psychiatry. The Lancet Psychiatry. 2015;2(3):271-274.
- 52. Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics. NUTRITION COUNSELING: BEHAVIOR CHANGE THEORIES (2007-2008). https://www.andeal.org/topic.cfm?menu=3151&cat=1397. Accessed April 18, 2020.
- 53. Sutin AR, Terracciano A. Personality and the social experience of body weight. Personality and Individual Differences. 2019;137:76-79.
- 54. Kwasnicka D, Dombrowski SU, White M, Sniehotta F. Theoretical explanations for maintenance of behaviour change: a systematic review of behaviour theories. Health Psychology Review. 2016;10(3):277-296.
- 55. United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs. World population projected to reach 9.8 billion in 2050, and 11.2 billion in 2100 <u>https://www.un.org/development/desa/en/news/population/world-population-prospects-2017.html</u>. Published 2017. Updated 2017-06-21. Accessed March 15, 2020.
- United States Census Bureau. A Changing Nation: Population Projections Under Alternative Immigration Scenarios. <u>https://www.census.gov/content/dam/Census/library/publications/2020/demo/p25-1146.pdf</u>. Published 2020. Accessed March 15, 2020.
- 57. Conrad Z, Johnson LK, Peters CJ, Jahns L. Capacity of the US food system to accommodate improved diet quality: A biophysical model projecting to 2030. Current Developments in Nutrition. 2018.
- 58. Anderson CAM, Thorndike AN, Lichtenstein AH, et al. Innovation to Create a Healthy and Sustainable Food System: A Science Advisory From the American Heart Association. Circulation. 2019;139(23).
- 59. National Academies of Sciences Engineering Medicine. Innovations in the Food System: Exploring the Future of Food: Proceedings of a Workshop—in Brief. NASEM; 2019.
- Zhang FF, Liu J, Rehm CD, Wilde P, Mande JR, Mozaffarian D. Trends and Disparities in Diet Quality Among US Adults by Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program Participation Status. JAMA Network Open. 2018;1(2):e180237.
- 61. Desbouys L, Méjean C, De Henauw S, Castetbon K. Socio-economic and cultural disparities in diet among adolescents and young adults: a systematic review. Public Health Nutrition. 2020;23(5):843-860.
- 62. Miller ER, Crews DC. Disparities in Diet Quality. JAMA Network Open. 2018;1(2):e180238.

- 63. Mironovici C, Kepper M, Scribner R, Chalew S. Demographic Influences and Health Disparities. In: Delamater AM, Marrero DG, eds. Behavioral Diabetes: Social Ecological Perspectives for Pediatric and Adult Populations. Cham: Springer International Publishing; 2020:169-197.
- 64. Alegría M, Araneta MR, Rivers B. The National Advisory Council on Minority Health and Health Disparities Reflection. American Journal of Public Health. 2019;109(S1):S14-S15.
- 65. Kumanyika S. Overcoming Inequities in Obesity: What Don't We Know That We Need to Know? Health Educ Behav. 2019;46(5):721-727.
- 66. Kumanyika S. Getting to Equity in Obesity Prevention: A New Framework. NAM Perspectives. 2020.
- 67. Office of Disease Prevention and Health Promotion. Social Determinants of Health | Healthy People 2020. <u>https://www.healthypeople.gov/2020/topics-objectives/topic/social-determinants-of-health</u>. Published 2020. Accessed March 15, 2020.
- 68. Adler NE, Cutler DM, Fielding JE, et al. Addressing Social Determinants of Health and Health Disparities: A Vital Direction for Health and Health Care. NAM Perspectives. 2016.
- 69. Taylor LA, Tan AX, Coyle CE, et al. Leveraging the Social Determinants of Health: What Works? PLOS ONE. 2016;11(8):e0160217.
- 70. Baker P, Friel S, Kay A, Baum F, Strazdins L, Mackean T. What Enables and Constrains the Inclusion of the Social Determinants of Health Inequities in Government Policy Agendas? A Narrative Review. International Journal of Health Policy and Management. 2017;7(2):101-111.
- 71. Garg A, Boynton-Jarrett R, Dworkin PH. Avoiding the Unintended Consequences of Screening for Social Determinants of Health. JAMA. 2016;316(8):813.
- 72. Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics. The Academy's Strategic Plan. <u>https://www.eatrightpro.org/leadership/governance/board-of-directors/strategic-plan</u>. Published 2017. Accessed.
- 73. Swan WI, Vivanti A, Hakel-Smith NA, et al. Nutrition Care Process and Model Update: Toward Realizing People-Centered Care and Outcomes Management. J Acad Nutr Diet. 2017;117(12):2003-2014.
- 74. Swan WI, Pertel DG, Hotson B, et al. Nutrition Care Process (NCP) Update Part 2: Developing and Using the NCP Terminology to Demonstrate Efficacy of Nutrition Care and Related Outcomes. Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics. 2019;119(5):840-855.
- 75. Murphy WJ, Yadrick MM, Steiber AL, Mohan V, Papoutsakis C. Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics Health Informatics Infrastructure (ANDHII): A Pilot Study on the Documentation of the Nutrition Care Process and the Usability of ANDHII by Registered Dietitian Nutritionists. J Acad Nutr Diet. 2018;118(10):1966-1974.
- 76. Kight CE, Bouche JM, Curry A, et al. Consensus Recommendations for Optimizing Electronic Health Records for Nutrition Care. J Acad Nutr Diet. 2019.

